FILED 05-13-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

#### WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

In re the termination of parental rights to E.A. and D.L.A., persons under the age of 18:

JACKSON COUNTY DEPTARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES,

Petitioner-Respondent,

Appeal Nos. 23-AP-1495 & 23-AP-1496 (consol.)

v.

Jackson County Circuit

Court Case Nos. 22-TP-1 & 22-TP-2

I.J.R.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW OF I.J.R.

ON PETITION FROM THE APRIL 11, 2024 OPINION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEAL, DISTRICT IV Jackson County Circuit Court Case Nos. 22-TP-1 & 22-TP-2 Hon. Anna L. Becker

Counsel for Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner I.J.R.:

#### Simerson Law LLC

# **ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

Jackson County DHS (hereafter "County") moved for partial summary judgment on grounds to terminate I.J.R.'s (hereafter "Isla") parental rights to her children. At a status conference, the Circuit Court scheduled oral arguments on the County's motion. Isla asked if she could attend oral arguments in person, with her attorney. The Circuit Court granted her request. Because she would likely be incarcerated by the time of the scheduled hearing, the Circuit Court ordered the County to secure her in-person appearance by writ.

The County failed to do so. Upon realizing that Isla was not present and was, instead, appearing by Zoom videoconference, defense counsel objected and requested a short adjournment to allow Isla to appear in person. The Circuit Court overruled the objection and denied the request. It reasoned that, because the hearing was non-evidentiary, Isla had no right to appear in person.

The Circuit Court granted the County's partial summary judgment motion, finding that grounds for termination existed as to abandonment and failure to assume parental responsibility. The Court of Appeals ultimately affirmed the ruling on the abandonment ground alone. In doing so, it held that, to establish "good cause" under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(c) so as to avoid partial summary judgment, the respondent "bears the initial burden to identify evidence in the summary judgment materials sufficient to support it" because she "bears the overall burden of proof on her good-cause defense[.]" Because the Court of Appeals found that Isla had not identified sufficient evidence of the "good cause" elements, it granted partial summary judgment to the County.

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 5 of 36

1. After previously granting a parent's request to be physically present for oral arguments on the government's motion for partial summary judgment—a request that went unfulfilled only because the government failed to follow a court order that it secure her transport—does a circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion under due process and subch. III of Wis. Stat. ch. 885 if it denies the parent's motion for a continuance and, instead, forces her to appear by videoconference, based solely on a belief that parties have no right to be physically present at non-evidentiary hearings?

METHOD OR MANNER OF RAISING THE ISSUE: Isla'a trial counsel objected to her remote appearance and requested a short adjournment. This argument was then raised on remand to the Circuit Court under Wis. Stat. Rule 809.107(6)(am) and again before the Court of Appeals.

ISLA'S POSITION: Yes.

ANSWERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT: No.

ANSWERED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS: No.

2. Did the 1995 amendments to Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(c), which removed the "rebutted" language and introduced the "good cause" exception to abandonment, abrogate the holding from *Odd S.-G. v. Carolyn S.-G.*, 194 Wis. 2d 365, 533 N.W.2d 794 (1995) that § 48.415(1)(c) creates a rebuttable presumption? If so: Despite the parent having the burden of persuasion to prove the good cause exception to abandonment at trial, when the government moves for partial summary judgment on abandonment, must it bear the initial burden of producing prima facie evidence that the good cause exception to abandonment does not apply to show that it is entitled to judgment as a matter of law?

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 6 of 36

METHOD OR MANNER OF RAISING THE ISSUE: Isla argued before both the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals that, to be entitled to judgment on the abandonment ground as a matter of law, the County must produce prima facie evidence which shows that the good cause exception does not apply. She did not raise the prefatory question concerning the 1995 amendments and *Odd S.-G*.

M.S.'S POSITION: Yes, to both.

ANSWERED BY THE CIRCUIT COURT: No, as to the second question.

ANSWERED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS: No, as to the second question.

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 7 of 36

## **REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW**

The Court should grant this petition because it presents novel issues of both constitutional and statutory concern, the clarification of which will benefit TPR litigants statewide. See Wis. Stat. Rule 809.62(1r)(a), (1r)(c)2.

These issues involve parents' fundamental due process rights. The first issue seeks to clarify the extent to which due process protects parents from being forced to appear remotely, including under the test provided in *Lassiter v. Dept. of Soc. Servs.*, 452 U. S. 18 (1981). The second issue implicates due process as it seeks to clarify the extent of the government's burden to produce evidence when requesting partial summary judgment on the question of parental unfitness. "[A]s a matter of procedural due process, parental unfitness must be proved by clear and convincing evidence." *Steven V. v. Kelley H. (In re Alexander V.)*, 2004 WI 47, ¶ 4, 271 Wis. 2d 1, 678 N.W.2d 856 (citing *Santosky v. Kramer*, 455 U.S. 745 (1982)).

This petition also involves novel questions of statutory interpretation. As an issue of first impression, it affords the Court an opportunity to discuss the exercise of judicial discretion to use videoconferencing technology under subch. III of ch. 885. Indeed, the County denies that these statutes even apply in TPR cases, and the Court of Appeals elected not to address this important question at all. With the emerging prominence of technologies such as Zoom, Teams, and Meet, litigants and courts alike would benefit from this Court's insights on the issue.

The second issue, too, is an issue of first impression involving statutory construction. It asks for guidance in how courts should apply the summary judgment methodology set forth in Wis. Stat. §

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 8 of 36

802.08(2) to the "good cause" exception to abandonment under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(c).

Before the "good cause" exception was enacted into law, § 48.415(1)(c) contained a rebuttable presumption governed by Wis. Stat. § 903.01. *See Odd S.-G. v. Carolyn S.-G.*, 194 Wis. 2d 365, 372, 533 N.W.2d 794 (1995); *T.P.S. v. G.D.*, 168 Wis. 2d 259, 266, 483 N.W.2d 591 (Ct. App. 1992). Despite the fact that, in 1995, the Legislature removed this presumption and replaced it with the good cause exception, the Court Appeals still often cites to *Odd S.-G.* and adheres to law based on an outdated version of the § 48.415(1)(c).

This petition asks to clarify who, on summary judgment, bears the initial burden to produce prima facie evidence as to the good cause exception. Isla asserts that it is the government, as movant, who bears the burden to put forward some evidence showing why the exception to abandonment does not apply. Unlike a rebuttable presumption, if good cause exists, no abandonment has occurred within the meaning of § 48.415(1)(a)2.-3. Therefore, despite the parent having the burden of proving good cause by a preponderance of the evidence, if the government wishes to avoid a trial, it cannot show by clear and convincing evidence and to a reasonable certainty that there is no genuine dispute as to any fact necessary to ultimately prove that an abandonment occurred without proffering at least some evidence that the good cause exception to abandonment doesn't apply.

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 9 of 36

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This statement of the case is separated into three subsections: (A) the nature of the case; (B) pertinent background facts; and (C) postdisposition and appellate proceedings.

#### A. Nature of the Case

On May 19, 2022, the County moved for partial summary judgment on the TPR grounds that Isla abandoned her children and failed to assume her parental responsibilities for them. At a status hearing, she requested that she be physically present alongside her attorney at the partial summary judgment hearing, a request that the Circuit Court granted. The Circuit Court directed the County to file a writ to effectuate the same. Isla responded to the County's motion on October 28, 2022, but trial counsel did not file any opposition affidavits along with the brief.

On November 15, 2022, the Circuit Court convened the partial summary judgment hearing. However, because the County never filed the writ, Isla was not physically present alongside her attorney. She objected and requested a brief adjournment to allow her to appear in person, a request that the Circuit Court denied. The Circuit Court granted the County's motion for partial summary judgment on March 14, 2023. On April 3, 2023, the Circuit Court convened a 48-minute disposition hearing and found that it was in the best interests of both children that Isla's parental rights be terminated. She appealed, and on remand, unsuccessfully moved for postdisposition relief. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 10 of 36

### **B.** Pertinent Background Facts

On April 28, 2022, the State commenced case numbers 22-TP-1 and 22-TP-2 by filing petitions to terminate Isla's parental rights to her children, alleging abandonment, continuing CHIPS, and a failure to assume parental responsibility as grounds. (R.3 [22TP1], R.3 [22TP2].)<sup>1</sup>

i. Proceedings Relating to Isla's Physical Presence at the Hearing on the County's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment

The County moved for partial summary judgment on May 19, 2022. (R.18.) The Circuit Court then held a status conference on September 13, 2022. (R.64; P-App 023-031.) During the hearing, it scheduled oral arguments on the County's motion for partial summary judgment for November 15, 2023. (P-App 028.) Isla's trial counsel, Attorney Carly Sebion, mentioned that, by the time of the hearing, Isla would be in custody and participating in a treatment program at Taycheedah Correctional Institution. (Id.) whether she would like to attend by Zoom teleconference or in person, Isla asked to attend in person. (P-App 028-029.) The Circuit Court granted the request and adjusted the time of the hearing to better accommodate Isla's transportation to and from the hearing. (P-App 089.) The Circuit Court then stated: "If we can confirm at some point that [Isla] is in Taycheedah, then DA would do a writ to have her transported in person back for that appearance." (Id.) The prosecutor replied, "Yes." (P-App 030.)

However, when the Circuit Court convened the hearing on November 15, 2022, Isla had not been transported, as requested.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The two files – 22-TP-1 and 22-TP-2 – are largely identical. Going forward, this brief will cite only to the court record in 22-TP-1, unless otherwise indicated.

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 11 of 36

(R.63; P-App 032-053.) According to the record, no writ or other proposed order had been filed, and no arrangements had been made, to have Isla transported to attend the hearing in person. She, instead, attended by Zoom videoconference. (P-App 033.) Attorney Sebion requested a brief adjournment to allow her to attend in person:

MS. SEBION: Your Honor, I did want to make the record clear, too, though, that [Isla] had requested to be in person for this hearing. I apologized to her, I did make the mistake of not following up on this a couple of weeks ago. I know that I -- I honestly thought that we had already put it on the record that she wanted to be here in person for this final decision on the motion and I guess that I just noticed a couple days ago that a writ hadn't ever been done.

So I do want to at least ask the Court to consider a short adjournment on this motion hearing so that we can hopefully get [Isla] there so she can be -- appear in person. I do think that this is a really important decision with the Court whether, you know -- kind of, obviously, depends a big part on what direction this case -- both of these cases go. And I do think it's important that she be heard on the ability to be there in person.

(P-App 035-036.)

Even though it had been the County's duty to file a writ and ensure Isla's physical presence, the County objected to her request for a brief adjournment: "Well, Judge, it's not an evidentiary hearing, so she's not required to be here in person. And I'm not sure why there was no writ completed, but I would object to having a continuance of the hearing." (P-App 036.) The Circuit Court agreed and denied the request. (P-App 036-037.) It reasoned that, because there would be no testimony, only legal arguments, and given that she was able to hear everything, it was not the type of hearing for which in-person attendance was necessary. (Id.)

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 12 of 36

ii. Proceedings Relating to Partial Summary Judgment on Abandonment

The County sought partial summary judgment on the grounds of abandonment and failure to assume parental responsibility, supporting it with a witness affidavit. (R.18.) Relevant here, it argued that there was no genuine issue of material fact that Isla abandoned her children. (Id.) With respect to her daughter E.A., for example, the County contended that partial summary judgment was appropriate because Isla had not had placement of her since September 28, 2021, had not had an in-person visit since April 14, 2021, had not communicated with her since September 27, 2021, and "ha[d] not expressed to the department a good cause for her failure to communicate or visit with [E.A.]" (Id.)

Isla responded on October 28, 2022. (R.35.) Attorney Sebion filed no supporting affidavit. Instead, she presented two general arguments: (1) that the Circuit Court should decline to order partial summary judgment because the two grounds at issue — abandonment and failure to assume — involve weighing fact-intensive factors and applying fact-intensive standards, (id. at 1-4), and (2) that, as County's affidavit demonstrates, there existed genuine disputes of material fact precluding the Circuit Court from ordering partial summary judgment, (id. at 4-8).

The County completed briefing by filing a reply brief in support of its motions. (R.36.) It focused exclusively on the effect, if any, that a court order prohibiting Isla from visiting her children should have on the question of abandonment. (Id.)

The Circuit Court granted the County's motion in an oral ruling on March 14, 2023, (R.67; P-App 164-190), finding Isla to be an unfit

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 13 of 36

parent on both grounds of abandonment and failure to assume parental responsibility, (R.46; P-App 167-86, 091-104).

As to abandonment, the Circuit Court found that Isla failed to visit or communicate with her children for a period of three months or longer between October 4, 2021 and April 28, 2022, the date the TPR petition was filed. (P-App 076-077.) It explained that Isla was released from incarceration on October 4, 2021 and February 14, 2022, during which her whereabouts were unknown. (Id.) On November 8, 2021, the County moved to revise the dispositional order to have Isla's right to visitation suspended for lack of consistent attendance and to put in place conditions precedent that she was required to satisfy to have her visitation right reinstated. (Id.) As conditions, she had to complete 30 days of one-on-one counselling, alcohol and drug rehabilitation, and parenting classes. (Id.) The Circuit Court entered an order to that effect on December 7, 2021. (Id.)

The Circuit Court found that, between October 4, 2021 and February 14, 2022, Isla was out of custody but did not complete the conditions precedent to allow her visitation with her children. (Id.) It noted that the no-visitation order did not prohibit communication with the children; it prohibited only "face-to-face visits until she could get some track record that she was willing to do some of the conditions necessary . . . ." (P-App 078.)

Turning to the good cause exception under Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(c), the Circuit Court rejected Isla's argument that her children were too young to meaningfully interact or bond. (P-App 078-079.) It also commented on "whether there was a direct contact," stating:

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 14 of 36

[Isla] may have generally asked how her kids are, but did not elaborate at all with Ms. [C.] or with the social worker and I don't believe that that constitutes general inquiry beyond, you know, are my kids okay or not. That is not a good cause for communicating. What I believe would be addressed as good cause would be how are my kids doing; have they been able to get their doctor appointments done; how were their birthdays; are they okay with their clothing; do they have the necessary supplies; are they healthy; are they having any struggles educationally or learning, you know, do they have speech difficulty. We haven't had any information whatsoever. It's just a void.

(P-App 079-080.) According to the Circuit Court, other than a 2021 visit on Easter, "[t]here was nothing substantial, no real demonstrated desire by mom to have that tie that a parent engages with where they're truly interested in their child . . . ." (P-App 080.)

The Circuit Court acknowledged Isla's periods of incarceration but noted that she was out of custody between December 2020 to June 2021 and between October 2021 and February 2022. (Id.) "During those times, she made no effort at all to make herself regularly available, to attend services, to keep in touch with her social worker." (P-App 080-081.) The Circuit Court found that Isla was offered and provided phones, phone cards, and transportation, but while she would leave messages, she would not receive voicemails at times because her phones had switched. (P-App 081.) It found that she also did not have a consistent address where she could be located. (Id.) In the Circuit Court's view, Isla did not care about or attend to her AODA needs. (Id.)

The Circuit Court conceded that Isla communicated with M.C., the foster mother, but that it was only to ask how the kids were doing before requesting additional supportive services. (Id.) It denied that Isla attempted to attend medical or dental appointments or engage in services to comply with the December no-visitation order — which did

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 15 of 36

not, in any event, "prevent her from communicating with the children ...." (P-App 081-082.)

The Circuit Court did not believe that the County could be blamed for failing to provide Isla services while she was incarcerated, reasoning that "she was in the county jail where the jail only has finite ability of a few things that they can offer as it wasn't an institutionalized prison or treatment-type facility." (P-App 082.) It further explained that Isla needed AODA treatment but that she had history of now following. Therefore, according to the Circuit Court, "there was really no point in the Department setting [services] up for her to have available until she actually was due for release and indicating that she was actually ready, willing, and able to engage, and that never ever happened either in or out of jail." (Id.)

For those reasons, the Circuit Court concluded that the good cause exception to abandonment did not apply. (Id.) It also found Isla to be an unfit parent based on the other ground, failure to assume parental responsibility.

On April 3, 2023, the Circuit Court convened a 48-minute disposition hearing. (R.54.) It found that it was in the best interests of both children that Isla's parental rights be terminated.

# C. Postdisposition and Appellate Proceedings

Isla appealed and, upon remand, filed a postdisposition motion on October 13, 2023, arguing that the Circuit Court erred in not granting her request for a short continuance to allow her appear in person and that her trial counsel was ineffective for not submitting any witness affidavits to oppose the County's motion. (R.98.) Undersigned counsel also submitted a three-page, 19-paragraph

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 16 of 36

affidavit from Isla as an offer of proof to show prejudice on her IAC claim. (R.105.) The Circuit Court convened a *Machner* evidentiary hearing on December 18, 2023. (R.127; P-App 105-39.) Attorney Sebion testified at Isla's request. (P-App 112-33.)

At a hearing on February 13, 2024, the Circuit Court denied the postdisposition motion. (R.133, R.135; P-App 140-56.) The Court of Appeals later affirmed. (P-App 001-022.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE COURT SHOULD GRANT THIS PETITION TO ADDRESS FOR THE FIRST TIME THE EXTENT OF A CIRCUIT COURT'S DISCRETION TO FORCE A LITIGANT TO APPEAR BY VIDEOCONFERENCE, OVER HIS OR HER OBJECTION, AND CONSISTENT WITH DUE PROCESS AND SUBCH. III OF WIS. STAT. CH. 885.

This petition presents an opportunity for the Court to address, for the very first time, a circuit court's exercise of discretion to require a party's appearance by videoconference under subch. III of ch. 885. This petition asks the Court to review the opinion below to analyze these underlying circumstances through the lens of both a parent's due process rights and the requirements of ch. 885.

A. The Court Should Review the Opinion Below Affirming the Circuit Court's Decision Not to Allow Isla to be Physically Present for the Hearing Because It Involves Important Questions of Due Process.

If granted, the petition would afford the Court an opportunity to delineate if and to what extent a TPR parent's due process rights protect against arbitrary decisions to refuse her physical presence at a non-evidentiary hearing. Isla will argue that the Circuit Court violated her due process rights when, without notice, it vacated its Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 17 of 36

prior order allowing her to appear in person, disregarded the County's role in preventing her from appearing in person, and refused to adjourn the hearing to allow her to appear in person.

The process for deciding when a litigant may be forced to appear by videoconference must be fair. *See* Wis. Stat. § 885.50(3) (declaring "that improper use of videoconferencing technology . . . can result in abridgement of fundamental rights of litigants . . . , unfair shifting of costs, and loss of the fairness, dignity, solemnity, and decorum of court proceedings that is essential to the proper administration of justice"). "[T]he use of video-conference technology is expressly '[s]ubject to' an individual's right 'to be physically present in the courtroom." *Racine County v. P.B.*, 2022 WI App 62, ¶ 21, 405 Wis. 2d 383, 983 N.W.2d 721.

The federal and state constitutions promise due process of law. The due process clause "guarantees more than fair process" as it also "provides heightened protection against government interference with certain fundamental rights and liberty interests." *Washington v. Glucksberg*, 521 U.S. 702, 719-20 (1997). Heightened procedural safeguards are necessary to protect parents' fundamental liberty interests in TPR proceedings:

The fundamental liberty interest of natural parents in the care, custody, and management of their child does not evaporate simply because they have not been model parents or have lost temporary custody of their child to the State. Even when blood relationships are strained, parents retain a vital interest in preventing the irretrievable destruction of their family life. If anything, persons faced with forced dissolution of their parental rights have a more critical need for procedural protections than do those resisting state intervention into ongoing family affairs. When the State moves to destroy weakened familial bonds, it

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 18 of 36

must provide the parents with fundamentally fair procedures.

Santosky v. Kramer, 455 U.S. 745, 753-54 (1982).

"Accordingly, 'a proceeding to terminate parental rights addresses a fundamental right which requires judicial protection.'" State v. Lavelle W., 2005 WI App 266, ¶ 2, 288 Wis. 2d 504, 708 N.W.2d 698 (citation omitted). "But 'judicial protection' is meaningless unless a person whose fundamental rights may be abridged has an 'opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.'" Id. Affording parents a meaningful opportunity to be present has many justifications: "Ideally, a person whose parental rights the State seeks to terminate should be present at the proceedings, so he or she can not only see and hear what is going on and assess the witnesses' demeanor, but also assist his or her lawyer without any undue difficulties." Id. ¶ 3 (emphasis added).

Turning to the test for procedural protections, due process requires that the parent be afforded safeguards if they are appropriate upon a balancing of three factors: "[1] the private interests affected by the proceeding; [2] the risk of error created by the State's chosen procedure; and [3] the countervailing governmental interest supporting use of the challenged procedure." *Santosky*, 455 U.S. at 754 (citing *Lassiter v. Dept. of Social Services*, 452 U.S. 18, 27-31, 37-48 (1981)).

First, the private interest in being physically present in a courtroom, particularly alongside one's counsel, when there is the prospect that judgment may be pronounced is no trivial matter. In addition to commentary from *Lavelle W.* quoted above, this Court has explained:

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 19 of 36

Requiring that the defendant be present in the courtroom is guided also by the belief that a courtroom is a setting epitomizing and guaranteeing "calmness and solemnity," see Cox v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 536, 583 (1965) (Black, J., dissenting), so that a defendant may recognize that he has had access to the judicial process in a criminal proceeding. Finally, requiring the defendant to make his appearance in a courtroom avoids the potential or perceived problems that can occur when the defendant is located in another facility such as a jail, while the judge, prosecutor, and perhaps even defense counsel are in the courtroom. See generally Anne Bowen Poulin, Criminal *Iustice* Videoconferencing Technology: The Remote Defendant, 78 Tul. L. Rev. 1089 (2004).

*State v. Soto*, 2012 WI 93, ¶ 23, 343 Wis. 2d 43, 817 N.W.2d 848.

Indeed, at the *Machner* hearing, Attorney Sebion testified to her surprise upon observing that Isla was not present in person on November 15, 2022. (P-App 126.) Agreeing that there are benefits to having the client there in person, Attorney Sebion explained that Isla's presence would have made it easier "[f]or her to ask questions, for her to add input, for me to be able to communicate with her and explain what's going on." (Id.) The benefits, she added, are "probably endless, honestly." (Id.)

Second, the risk of error created by barring Isla's in-person presence was real given that the circumstances effectively minimized and deterred attorney-client interaction. The summary judgment hearing included argument from the attorneys about whether Isla should summarily be found to be an unfit parent of her two children. If Isla wanted to whisper something to her counsel or slip her counsel a note, her only option would have been to bring the hearing to a halt by calling aloud or motioning her arms. Even then, at best, Isla would only have been placed in a computerized "breakout room" with her

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 20 of 36

attorney, disrupting the flow of the hearing. At worst, her interruption of the hearing would have been met with a rebuke from the Circuit Court. Either way, Isla's teleconference appearance was not tantamount to an in-person appearance alongside her attorney, as she had duly requested (and that, but for the County's neglect, would have occurred).

Finally, Isla cannot think of any countervailing governmental interest. During briefing, the County suggested that the countervailing governmental interest in not allowing Isla to appear in person was economics. This is a remarkable position. The County was *ordered* to file a writ to have her produced for the hearing. Disobeying a court order to save gas money is not a legitimate governmental interest. While one might be tempted to argue that barring her from the hearing and denying her request for a short adjournment would bring about a more expeditious final disposition for her children, quite the opposite is actually true. If anything, barring Isla from the hearing has only prolonged matters, as exemplified by this appeal. Consequently, under the circumstances here, barring Isla from an in-person appearance alongside her attorney violated her right to due process of law.

In rejecting this argument during postdisposition proceedings, the Circuit Court reasoned that it is not even necessary that a summary judgment hearing be held and that, because there was no risk that Isla's parental rights would be terminated at the hearing, she did not have a due process right to be there in person. (P-App 144-45.)

The Circuit Court's explanation misses the point. Isla *does not* argue that parents have a due process right to be present in person at summary judgment hearings. However, if process is offered, it must

Case 2023AP001495 Petition for Review Filed 05-13-2024 Page 21 of 36

be fair, and unfairness cannot be excused simply because a particular process, like a summary judgment hearing, is optional. Whether or not judgment was to be pronounced that day, the Circuit Court granted Isla's request to be at the summary judgment hearing in person, giving both Isla and her attorney the unquestionable expectation that that would occur. And but for the neglect of the *adversary party*, Isla would have been there, in person, beside Attorney Sebion. Isla had a due process right to just that.

The Court should grant this petition to weigh in on this issue of statewide importance to Wisconsin litigants.

B. The Court Should Review the Opinion Below Affirming the Circuit Court's Decision to Force Isla to Appear by Videoconference Because the Law on Judicial Exercises of Discretion Under Subch. III of Ch. 885 is Woefully Underdeveloped.

As an issue of first impression, the Court should take this opportunity to interpret and develop the law on subch. III of ch. 885, the statutes governing the use of teleconferencing technology in Wisconsin.

The County insisted in the courts below that ch. 885 does not apply to TPR cases. The Court of Appeals then declined to address the issue, leaving the question open. The Court should grant review to clarify that ch. 885 does, in fact, apply to TPR cases.

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