FILED 05-16-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2023AP1495 No. 2023AP1496

IN RE THE TERMINATION OF PARENTAL RIGHTS TO E.A. and D.L.A., persons under the age of 18:

JACKSON COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,

Petitioner-Respondent-Respondent,

v.

I.J.R.,

Respondent-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JERI MARSOLEK

Attorney for Petitioner-Respondent

Jackson County District Attorney's Office 307 Main Street Black River Falls, WI 54615 (715) 284-0242 jeri.marsolek@da.wi.gov

INTRODUCTION

The Department opposes the petition for review filed by I.J.R. (hereinafter "Isla"). The court of appeals employed the correct standard of review and applied established due process principles when it determined that Isla had no due process right to be present at a summary judgment hearing. Furthermore, the court of appeals correctly found that Isla had not made constitutional or statutory arguments before the trial court and therefore had forfeited the same. *In re the Termination of Parental Rights to E.A. and D.L.A.*, Nos. 2023AP1495 and -1496, 2024 WL 1565024 (Wis. Ct. App. April 11, 2024) (unpublished); (Pet-App. 1-21). Isla's attempt for further review, which constitutes no more than a plea for error correction, should not convince this Court otherwise.

DISCUSSION

There are several reasons why this Court should deny Isla's petition for review.

First, the court of appeals decision is correct and does not involve a real or significant question of federal or state constitutional law. Rather, the court of appeals determined that Isla's argument regarding any due process right to appear failed for independent reasons. Isla's arguments to the court of appeals were without clear support in the record.

Isla argued in the court of appeals that the department disobeyed a court order to file a writ for Isla's appearance at a summary judgment hearing. But, the court of appeals found the record is devoid of any such order. Rather, the court observed that the record shows trial counsel for Isla represented that "[i]f we can confirm" Isla's custody status as of the hearing date, the department "should do a writ" for Isla's appearance. This vague statement from trial counsel does not constitute a court order. Moreover, trial counsel had indicated on the record that she had not followed up on the issue of a writ. The court of appeals found nothing in the record to confirm that Isla's custody status had been confirmed.

More importantly, the court of appeals noted that Isla made no arguments based on constitutional or statutory bases in the trial court. The court of appeals properly held that arguments raised for the first time on appeal are generally deemed forfeited. (Pet-App. 7) (citing *Tatera v. FMC Corp.*, 2010 WI 90, ¶ 19 n.16, 328 Wis. 2d 320, 786 N.W.2d 810; and *State v. Eugene W.*, 2002 WI App 54, ¶ 13, 251 Wis. 2d 259, 641 N.W.2d 467.

The court of appeals specifically stated that, "this court does not 'blindside [circuit] courts with reversals based on theories which did not originate in their forum."(citing *State v. Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d 817, 827, 539 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1995). On this basis the court of appeals properly concluded that when applying the facts of this case to the established legal principles of law, Isla's constitutional and statutory arguments fail on forfeiture grounds.

Isla does not argue that the court of appeals analysis was wrong or that it misconstrued any of this Court's precedential holdings. Rather, Isla ignores the court of appeals forfeiture holding and instead again argues the issue of due process grounds. Isla merely wants this court to apply established legal principles to the factual situation presented in this case and reach a different result.

The Court should deny Isla's petition for review because it satisfies none of this Court's criteria for review. Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(c)1., the Court does not grant review to the application of "well-settled principles to the fact situation" presented in this case. To do so would be mere error correction, which is not this Court's primary function. *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 188-89, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997) (the supreme court's role is law development, whereas the primary function of the court of appeals is error correction).

This court grants review when special and important reasons are presented. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r). Criteria to be considered include a real and significant question of federal or state constitutional law; a need for the court to consider establishing, implementing or changing a policy within its authority; an opportunity to develop, clarify or harmonize the law; a conflict in legal precedent; or an issue that is in accord with opinions, but ripe for re-examination due to passage of time. Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r)(a)–(e).

Isla's petition for review meets none of these criteria. Rather, Isla asserts in conclusory fashion that the criteria are met in this case. (See, Isla's Pet. 7). Isla argues that the court should grant the petition because it presents novel issues of both constitutional and statutory concern, but fails to identify how parents' fundamental due process rights in this case represent new principles of law. The petition fails to articulate an issue of statewide impact. The law of due process as applied to parents in termination of parental rights cases is wellestablished and Isla did not argue that the issues in this case are in conflict with controlling precedent on the matter.

Isla next argues that this case involves a novel question of statutory interpretation. First, this issue was not raised in the circuit court and therefore should not be a subject for review by this Court. Second, the assertion is simply wrong. The court of appeals assumed, without deciding, that the statute applied, and went on to find that the circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when applying that statute to the facts in the record. Therefore a review of this decision would merely be applying the facts of the case to well-established law, which is not a basis for review in this Court.

Finally, Isla contends that this case involves an issue of first impression for the application of facts to the summary judgment statute Wis. Stat. § 802.08. In an attempt to create a statutory conflict, Isla points to precedent that pre-dates legislative action on Wis. Stat. § 48.415(1)(c). The statute is unambiguous on its face and not in conflict with any caselaw following its inception. Therefore, there is no novel question of statutory interpretation.

Further, there is no need to clarify whether Wis. Stat. ch. 885 applied in this case because Isla failed to make this argument in the courts below. As stated previously, arguments raised for the first time on appeal are generally deemed forfeited. *See, Tatera v. FMC Corp., infra.*

5

Finally, this Court should deny Isla's petition for review because the underlying decision of the court of appeals is unpublished. The lower court decision will not impact any case other than Isla's.

CONCLUSION

The court of appeals correctly affirmed the decision of the circuit court terminating Isla's parental rights and further review is not warranted.